
STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA

PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

Sunflower Wind Project, LLC
Wind Energy Conversion Facility - Stark & Morton
Siting Application

Case No. PU-14-105

ORDER ON CONSENT AGREEMENT

May 11, 2023

Preliminary Statement

On June 25, 2014, the Commission issued Certificate of Site Compatibility Number
39 to Sunflower Wind Project, LLC (Sunflower), designating a site for the construction,
operation and maintenance of an energy conversion facility for the Sunflower Wind
Energy Project (Project) in Stark and Morton Counties, North Dakota. On January 7,
2015, the Commission amended Certificate of Site Compatibility Number 39 allowing for
an alternative site plan and turbine model.

On November 12, 2021, Sunflower petitioned for an extension from December 31,
2021, to June 30, 2022, to procure and install a functioning Aircraft Detection Lighting
System (ADLS).

On December 1, 2021, the Commission issued a notice of hearing on the
November 12, 2021, request for extension, scheduling a Public Hearing for January 10,
2022, in the Commission Hearing Room, 12th Floor, State Capitol, Bismarck, North
Dakota 58505.

On January 5, 2022, Commission staff sent Sunflower a Notice of Noncompliance,
noting that Sunflower was not in compliance with North Dakota Century Code (NDCC)
Section 49-22-16.4(3) and North Dakota Administrative Code (NDAC) Section 69-06-11-
02(2) by failing to have a functioning ADLS at the Project by December 31, 2021. The
Notice of Noncompliance noted that Sunflower may be subject to civil penalty pursuant
to NDCC Section 49-22-21, and that, in addition, the Commission may suspend or revoke
the Certificate of Site Compatibility issued for the Project for operating in violation of the
applicable statutes, rules or provisions of the Commission’s Order issuing the Certificate.

On January 10, 2022, the hearing was held as scheduled.

On January 18, 2022, the Commission denied Sunflower’s request for extension.

On December 27, 2022, Sunflower notified the Commission that the ADLS at the
Project became operational on December 14, 2022.
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On January 11, 2023, the Commission appointed Advocacy Staff in this
proceeding.

On April 21, 2023, a Consent Agreement was filed between Sunflower and
Advocacy Staff.

Discussion

Sunflower Wind Project, LLC owns and operates the Sunflower Wind Energy
Project. Sunflower Wind Energy Project is a 104-megawatt wind farm located in Stark
and Morton Counties, North Dakota.

NDCC Section 49-22-16.4(3) provides "By December 31, 2021, every wind energy
conversion facility for which the commission issued a certificate of site compatibility before
June 5, 2016, must be equipped with a functioning light-mitigating technology system that
complies with the rules adopted by the commission. After public hearing, the commission
may grant a waiver or an extension of time based on technical or economic feasibility
considerations.”

NDAC Section 69-06-11-02(2) provides “A wind energy conversion facility for
which a certificate of site compatibility was issued before June 5, 2016, must be equipped
with a functioning light-mitigating technology in compliance with this chapter by December
31, 2021. The commission may grant an extension of time based on technical or
economic feasibility considerations.”

Certificate of Site Compatibility Number 39 for the Sunflower Wind Energy Project
was issued before June 5, 2016; therefore, it was required by NDCC Section 49-22-
16.4(3) and NDAC Section 69-06-11-02(2) to be equipped with functional light-mitigating
technology by December 31, 2021.

Advocacy Staff investigated the matter and concluded that Sunflower violated
NDCC Section 49-22-16.4(3) and NDAC Section 69-06-11-02(2) by failing to have
functional light-mitigating technology at the Project by December 31, 2021.

Sunflower and Advocacy Staff engaged in good faith settlement discussions
resulting in a Consent Agreement intended to avoid further administrative proceedings or
litigation.

Under the Consent Agreement, Sunflower and Advocacy Staff compromised to a
penalty of $100,000.

Having considered this matter, the Commission finds the Consent Agreement filed
on April 21, 2023, is reasonable and acceptable. Therefore, the Commission issues the
following:
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Order

The Commission Orders:

The Consent Agreement between Sunflower Wind Project, LLC and Advocacy
Staff filed with the Commission on April 21, 2023, is approved. A copy of the Consent
Agreement is attached to and made part of this Order on Consent Agreement (Order).

1.

2. Sunflower Wind Project, LLC is assessed a civil penalty of $100,000 for violating
NDCC Section 49-22-16.4(3) and NDAC Section 69-06-11-02(2).

Sunflower Wind Project, LLC shall remit the $100,000 civil penalty, payable to the
North Dakota Public Service Commission within ten business days of service of this
Order.

3.

For identification of Internal Revenue Code, 26 U.S.C. Section 162(f)(2)(A)(ii), the
performance is restitution, remediation, or an amount paid to come into compliance with
the law. Sunflower Wind Project, LLC shall provide the Commission with a U.S.
Department of the Treasury Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 for the purpose of the
identification requirement of 26 U.S.C. Section 162(f)(2)(A)(ii) within ten business days
of service of this Order.

4.

PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

't/mSheri Haugeri-Hoffart
Commissioner

Randy Christmann
J Chair Commissioner
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